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St COLMAN’S ORATORY
IN BURREN
MEMORIAL   TO   REMARKABLE   SAINT
DRAMATIC   INCIDENTS   IN   HIS CAREER
Our ecclesiastical monuments, many of which are  now fortunately guarded by the State, are at once impressive evidences of the authenticity of our primi​tive Church records, and of the character of the labours of our early Irish ecclesiastics.    It is true, no doubt, that many of our early monuments have been neglected, and have disappeared without a trace to mark their sites.    Yet Ireland may well congratulate herself that so much has been saved from the slow but certain results of  neglect,  and  placed  beyond  the  reach  of additional decay.
This is what the late Right Rev. Monsignor Fahy, D.D., V. G., Gort, said in a paper read at a meeting of the Royal Society of Antiquaries in Ireland of which he was Vice-president, in March, 1911.
Dr. Fahy continues: In this re​spect I would instance the extant monument, which   perpetuates   the memory of the life and labours of St. Colman MacDuagh.  His Church at Aranmore tells us of his stay in the historic school of St. Enda. The splendid   group    of    ecclesiastical monuments  so   well   preserved   at Kilmacduagh take us back to the period of his presence there, and tell of the success of his episcopal labours, and of the importance of his monastic foundation and new See.  The  interesting   group    of  Churches   at   Oughtmama,   within  the  folds of  the  Burren  valleys, also fortunately preserved, speak to us of his retirement from the pub​lic and distracting duties of Bishop, to the simple life of solitude and prayer which he loved so well, and practised  so  long   in  his  Cinaille hermitage   in  Burren,   before   his appointment as Bishop.

THE  OAK,  PINE AND  HAZEL
His stay in the Cinaille hermitage for a period of seven years-with the strange incidents which led to his discovery there by the king, his cousin,   forms   one   or   the   most dramatic incidents of his career. In those days, the giant Irish oak, and pine, and hazel copse, lent to the terraced hills and valleys of Burren the    graceful    shelter  of their  branches.  And the young saint who longed for solitude found it in the forest gloom there, followed by only a  single   attendant.   His dwelling was an open cave under the frowning heights of Burren's loftiest cliff.  The branches of the forest supplied material for the little oratory. The clear, limpid water which bubbled from the hill side supplied him with drink.     The   skins   of   the   wild animals, and the herbs of the forest afforded the clothing and food with which he was content.   His cave on the  mountain plateau  looked  out over the surrounding forest;  close by, the water of the Atlantic ex​tends its arms far inland through the fertile plains of Aidhne of "the fleet steeds “  over which his cousin, Guaire, excercised royal sway.

ROYAL   DUN  AT  KINVARA
Even the royal Dun at Kinvara. where Guaire  held his  court  was within   view.    Possibly   the   saint's attendant, weary of the continuous prayers' and fasting, longed for the "fleshpots of Dunguaire."   The vast level  limestone   ledges  within   the hazel copses, beneath the cliff, are they not supposed to verify to the present day the legend of  the savoury dishes, which, according to  — Aengus and Colgan and others, were, " borne from the king's table at Dunguaire by invisible hands on Easter Day, and laid before the saint and his attendant as a reward for patience and perseverance in fasting?   Even the designation of the road through the mountain passes  "Bothar Na Mias" perpetuates the  memory of this singular tradition.  It was on  this  occasion  that  St.   Colman was discovered by the king and his clansmen, and was induced  to  accept the  duties  and  responsibility of first Bishop of his ancestral territory.                                      

THE   ORIGINAL   WOODEN ORATORY 
We may of course assume that the holy hermit of  Burren could only construct a rude wooden shelter for this purposes  at Cinaille.    But, as  was   natural   and   usual,   a   stone  oratory was built on the site of the| original wooden oratory, ever since regarded as holy ground.   Though much   ruined,   enough   remains   to show that it was a simple oblong without a chancel; and its dimen​sions are those of the Irish oratories of the ninth and tenth centuries. Its outline can be easily traced. The east    gable    and    much   of    the southern side wall have almost dis​appeared   to   the   foundations;  but the western gable and much of the northern side wall fortunately re​main.   But, judging from present evidences, even those will soon dis​appear,  unless steps  be  taken  to arrest their growing  decay.    The legendary history of the interesting spot preserved in the old records has been preserved also with a marvel​lous accuracy in the popular tradi​tions of the district.
OUGHTMAMA   AND CORCOMROE 
From the oratory and cave, the monuments at Kilmacduagh stand in a right line—only at about a distance   of   four   miles, while   on the north-west   side   of   the   steep heights   of   Cinaille   the   ancient churches     of     Oughtmama     and Corcomroe  shelter  within the friendly folds   of   the   hills.    The oratory is therefore an important memorial of the history of one of the remarkable saints of our early Church—a memorial of one of the most,   remarkable   periods   of   his career.   It forms an important link, connecting his episcopal labours at Kilmacduagh  with his retirement to  the  seclusion  of  the  adjoining valley  at  Oughtmama.    Should   a memorial of the past so interesting and important be allowed to perish? I sincerely trust that monuments which speak of a career so singular, so  interesting,  and holy,  may   be preserved to bear to future genera​tions a message  which  has been received in the past with interest and reverence.
GREAT FORESTS ARE GONE 
I am aware that there are some who would descredit the beautiful story of St. Colman's hermitage in the wooden valleys of  Burren,  by reference  to  their  treeless  desolation in our day.    It is indeed true that the graceful pines and lordly oaks which, once filled the Burren valleys, and clothed the sides of its terraced hills, have long since been  cut   away.     But   our   writers  of  weight accept without question the  descriptions of the place which have  reached them through Colgan and  others  from  a  remote past.    Mr. Frost in his History of Clare gives the following graphic sketch of the place: "It is related that St. Colman  MacDuagh  lived  just  before 
the year 620 as a hermit- in a wild, rocky valley, surrounded by woods,  in   the   parish   of   Carron,   about  three miles to the south of Oughtmama  where   the remains of  his little oratory, the cave in which he lived, may yet be seen.   He resided there with one companion for seven years. 
Dean   White   in   his   interesting  History of Clare, referring to the, same subject, says: "the hermitage  is now bare, but was then thickly, wooded."                                           
I have  made   similar   references to the Burren forests of that period in my book on the History of Kilmacduagh—"extremely  desolate   at the present day,  the  Burren hills had then their rugged sides clothed  with dense forests, well calculated  to  afford  that concealment  which  he (the hermit) sought."      
            ,
WANTON   DESTRUCTION 
While    all    regret,   the    wanton destruction of Ireland's forests, we  know   but   comparatively   little   of the exact periods when this regret​table denudation  was  effected.    A venerable  tradition tells  that  the   . soldiers of Ireton while quartered at Lemaneagh Castle deplored the inconvenience occasioned them by   ' not finding in Burren "wood enough   to hang a man."   It was a pleasantry, even for a Roundhead. But its authority is open to question.    in any   case   it affords  no evidence whatever that the Burren valleys may not have been densely wooded  a   thousand   years   before Ireton  or his  men  ever trod   its mountain    passes.  Though    the Burren  valleys are  rich  in  memorials of a remote and interesting  past, it has ,few if any more, interesting than the oratory and cave of St.  Colman at Cinaille.

THE  BELL  CAME   FROM THE CLOUDS   INTERESTING LEGEND FROM SCATTERY
THE old Lives of St. Senan tell us how that Saint received a bell from Heaven, whence it  descended ringing loudly on a hill north of Kilrush at the cross between Kildimo and Farighy, when the tongue flew away, so evidently this was not one of the several marvellous bells whose ringing on Scattery resounded all over Corcavaskin, enabling Mass to be celebrated at the same moment In each of Its churches.
The heaven-sent bell was called! "Clog na neal,"   the   bell  of   the clouds,   and   eventually   "Clog   an oir,"   from   the   supposed   golden adornments of its shrine, and was, of    course,    most    reverently   pre​served at Scattery during the vicis​situdes of many ages by the coarbs of   St.   Senan.    The   last   of   the recognised coarbs was Calvagh, son of   Siacus   O'Cahan,   who   died   in 1581.   The "converbship" had been, granted to Donald O'Brien, the last chief of Clare, as a bribe to win him to the English   interest,   but   the O'Cahanes did not fall in with the views of the Saxon Government and held the office against him and his son, Turlogh O'Brien.   Even when the official position ended, the pres​tige    clung  to the family of O'Cahane, and one of its members, Nicholas O'Cahane, was coroner in the later reign of Queen Elizabeth ,  and   took   energetic   measures   to repel   the   thirsty   crews   of   the Armada  ships  which  sheltered  in the   river   in   1588,   near   Kilrush. Charles Cahane of Lisdeen, in Kilfearagh parish, and Teige Cahane of  Ballyowen,   of  the  same  place, in 1641, lost their lands in 1642, but in 1690 Brian Cahane was still one of   "the chief gentry and ablest persons" near Kilrush.
The bell was kept in the direct line of the O'Keanes till 1730, when it passed to a family traditionally said to be a branch of the northern. O'Cahanes by the marriage of their ancestor, Robert Keane of Ballyvoe, with a daughter of the house of Corcayaskin.    The bell seems to have first attracted the attention of students in 1826 when it was ex​hibited before the Society of Anti​quaries in London. It is not stated whether the bell was at that time preserved in the shrine, and family tradition seemed to be ignorant of the loss  of  the  bell,  which some indeed imagined was the  inner bronze shrine. It and a bell belong​ing to Mr.  J. Cooke,  and said to have been found at Scattery, were exhibited by him and Mr. Francis '  Keane of Kilrush in Dublin In 1853. Mr.  Cooke's  bell passed  to  the possession of the British Museum; it was of bronzed iron, and it is not  known   with   certainty   whether  it would fit the "Clog an oir" shrine or not. The latter was lent to the Royal Irish. Academy in 1864 and remained  for some time   in   its museum.   Lastly the bell was ex​hibited at a meeting of the Royal Society of Antiquaries of Ireland at  Lisdoonvarna on July 31st. 1900. Tradition   has   naturally   made  much of the mystery and miracles  told about this shrine, and a belief grew up that it avenged any oath taken upon   it   in   falsehood   by striking with convulsions and death or, at the least, with disfigurement and distortion of the face, the relic perjurer. As a consequence of the great awe attached to the relic, its use was frequently sought by persons whose property had been  robbed, and not only by those living in Clare but in the adjacent counties. Many stories were told of its occult powers and how when it was stolen, it returned to its rightful owner.                                                
Once a gentleman from Galway sent his servant to borrow it, and the    servant,    who    was    actually  guilty of the crime that his master wanted to detect,fearing  the a terrible relic, flung it into the sea.  On his return he told his master  that the O'Cahanes would not lend it. "You are a liar, for there it is on the table before you,"   was   the  reply. The terrified culprit at once confessed his crime.   The bell was last asked for in 1834. In this year a  tenant farmer had   his   broken into and robbed of £20.  He  applied for the bell, as he suspected the   robbery to have been   committed by persons in the neighbourhood.   It  was  brought with  much ceremony to his house, and after Mass on the following Sunday was the time appointed for the whole parish to assemble to clear them​selves from suspicion upon the bell. On  the  Saturday  night  preceding this  ordeal, the  farmer  was frightened by  hearing  a  crash at the window, which was broken in.. He apprehended that his days were numbered,   but   after   waiting   for some time in great fear, all became quiet.   On lighting a candle to see what had occurred, he found, to his great  astonishment, that  his £20 —even the identical notes, tied with the same string—had been thrust in through the broken pane and were on the floor.
The only person who attempted a careful description of the shrine was the late Canon Dwyer, and he, for some unknown reason, makes that description from the litho​graphs and not from the original. He tells how "Senan's bell was in great esteem as a sacred swearing piece" in cases of "cattle stealing and assault," how it was called "Clog na neal" and "Clog an oir," the latter name from the gold "with which it had been adorned, as well as with precious stones."
